### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MATT KLABACKA, Distribution Trustee of the Eric L. Nelson Nevada Trust dated May 30, 2001,

Appellant/Cross Respondent.

VS.

5

6

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

LYNITA SUE NELSON, Individually and in her capacity as Investment Trustee of the LSN NEVADA TRUST dated May 30, 2001; and ERIC L. NELSON, Individually and in his capacity as Investment Trustee of the ELN NEVADA TRUST dated May 30, 2001:

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

Supreme Court Case No. 66772 District Court Case No. D-09-411537

> Electronically Filed Dec 01 2015 09:48 a.m Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3(A)(b)(1). The orders appealed are: (1) FINDINGS OF FACT AND ORDER entered on 7/11/12, V30:7471-7479 (2) ORDER FROM 2/23/12 HEARING PARTIALLY GRANTING ELN TRUST'S MOTION TO DISMISS THIRD-PARTY COMPLAINT WITHOUT PREJUDICE entered on 8/31/12, V19:4540-4550; (3) ORDER FROM 7/16/12 HEARING entered by this Court on 10/10/12, V19:4683-4690; (4) the DECREE OF DIVORCE entered on 6/3/13, V19:4691-4742; (5) ORDER FROM 9/4/13 HEARING REGARDING PAYMENT OF LINDELL PROFESSIONAL PLAZA INCOME entered on 9/30/13, V21:5247-V22:5254; (6) ORDER DETERMINING DISPOSITION OF DYNASTY DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT, INC. AKA WYOMING DOWNS entered on 9/22/14, V23:5553-5561; (7) ORDER FROM 7/22/13, HEARING ON LYNITA NELSON'S MOTION TO AMEND OR ALTER JUDGMENT, FOR DECLARATION AND RELATED RELIEF entered on 9/22/14, V23:5562-5575; and (8) Findings of Fact and Order entered on 6/8/15. V25:6226-6248.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The ELN TRUST identified approximately 30 appealable issues in the Docketing Statements filed on 11/25/14 and 7/23/15. This Opening Brief will focus on the following issues, which include mixed issues of fact and law:

1. Whether the District Court lacked jurisdiction to hear the claims for relief asserted in the LSN TRUST'S Amended Third-Party Complaint arising under Titles 12 and 13 of NRS concerning the internal affairs of the ELN Trust.

- 2. Even if the District Court had subject matter jurisdiction to hear claims arising under Title 12 or 13 of NRS, whether the District Court erred under the Eighth Judicial District Court Rules by hearing the claims for relief asserted in the Amended Third-Party Complaint.
- 3. Whether the District Court erred by entertaining claims between entities (the ELN Trust and LSN Trust) in a divorce proceeding instead of requiring said claims to be raised in a civil proceeding.
- 4. Whether the District Court erred by ordering the ELN Trust to pay Eric's spousal support obligation and child support arrearages based upon statutes from other jurisdictions and in contravention of Nevada law.
- 5. Whether the District Court erred by ordering the ELN Trust to pay a portion of Lynita's attorneys' fees and costs because the ELN Trust was not added as a necessary party until 2012.
- 6. Whether the District Court erred by ordering the ELN Trust to pay Larry Bertsch, CPA, the court appointed special master, fees without providing a corresponding credit to the ELN Trust on the "equalization," and/or requiring the other Parties to share in the expense.
- 7. Whether the District Court erred by striking the expert witness report of Layne T. Rushforth, Esq., and excluding him from testifying as an expert in this matter.
- 8. Whether the District Court erred by enforcing the purported intent of Eric and Lynita to make future gifts to each other in order to "equalize" the assets owned by the ELN Trust and LSN Trust despite the fact that there is no legally enforceable agreement to make such gifts and neither Eric nor Lynita possess a community or separate property interest in the assets owned by such trusts.
- 9. Whether the District Court erred by relying on the Parties' characterization of the property owned by the spendthrift trusts as being community property in contravention of Nevada law.
- 10. Whether the District Court erred by imposing a constructive trust over the Russell Road property and failing to credit the ELN Trust for the millions of dollars that it paid for its interest in such property.

- 11. Whether the District Court erred by failing to consider the substantial property the ELN Trust transferred to the LSN Trust as "consideration" for the ELN Trust's acquisition of a 50% interest in the Lindell property and Brianhead cabin.
- 12. Whether the District Court erred by failing to credit the ELN Trust for liabilities and/or expenses owed by the ELN Trust.
- 13.In its attempt to purportedly "equalize" the ELN Trust and LSN Trust, whether the District Court erred by overvaluing the Bella Kathryn property at its "cost" not its appraised value for Eric's purported violation of the joint preliminary injunction.
- 14. Whether the District Court erred by ordering the ELN Trust to pay Lynita and/or the LSN Trust 1/2 of the net income collected from the Arnold Property and Mississippi RV Park after it found that the case had been adjudicated and appealed.
- 15. Whether the District Court erred by entering its 6/8/15 Order, which modified its Divorce Decree by granting the LSN Trust additional relief during the pendency of the First Appeal.
- 16. Whether the District Court erred by ordering the ELN Trust to pay \$75,000 to the LSN Trust for a loan that was made by Banone, LLC.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

Eric initiated a divorce proceeding against Lynita on 5/6/09. V1:1-8.

After 7 days of trial in 2010, Eric and Lynita stipulated to join the ELN Trust and LSN Trust as necessary parties. V1:1742-1746.

On 6/3/13, nearly a year after the District Court oversaw an additional 7 days of trial, the District Court issued its Divorce Decree, which disposed of all of the property owned by the ELN Trust and the LSN Trust, except for Wyoming Downs. V19:4691-4742.

On 6/17/13, Lynita filed a Motion to Amend or Alter Judgment seeking the immediate enforcement of the Divorce Decree, requesting that discovery be re-opened and that the District Court conduct another trial on the disposition of Wyoming Downs. V20:4755-4798. Said trial was heard on 5/30/14, and the Order Determining Disposition of Dynasty Development Management, Inc. aka Wyoming Downs was entered on 9/22/14, V23:5553-5561, at which time the Divorce Decree became an appealable order. The Divorce Decree, along with other orders, were appealed on 10/20/14. V23:5576-5578. Although the First Appeal was pending, on 11/13/14, Lynita filed a Motion to Enforce the Divorce Decree, V23:5579-5805, which was a thinly disguised and untimely motion to amend judgment, that was granted on 6/8/15, V25:6226-6248, thereby necessitating the ELN Trust to file the Second Appeal. V25:6249-V26:6251.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Lynita seeks to thwart the separate property asset protection plan that she entered into with full advice from multiple attorneys.

#### A. 1991 REVOCABLE TRUST.

In 1991 Eric and Lynita retained Jeffrey L. Burr, Esq. ("Burr") to draft a standard revocable trust and wills. V14:3429:4-15. Burr met with both Eric and Lynita on two occasions prior to the execution of said revocable trust, V14:3432:6-12, and believes that they both understood the probate and estate-planning process. V14:3432:18-21.

# B. CREATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SEPARATE PROPERTY AGREEMENT AND SEPARATE PROPERTY TRUSTS.

1. Burr Explained The Legal Effect Of The Separate Property

Agreement And Separate Property Trusts Prior To Lynita's

Execution Of The Same.

In July 1993, Eric and Lynita met with Burr because Eric had an opportunity to invest in some gaming ventures, in which Lynita did not want to become involved in for moral and religious reasons. V14:3433:3-16, V13:3131:3-3132:5. Over the course of at least two meetings with Eric and Lynita, V26:6252, V14:3434:4-10, Burr explained that the best way to accomplish their goals would be to enter into a separate property agreement, V14:3438:1-7, which was a methodology that estate planners then used in order to provide asset protection for at least a portion of the marital community. V3437:31:17-21. Burr further explained that once the property was divided into separate pools and funded into separate property trusts, V14:3436:18-21, Eric and Lynita would be free to operate and dispose of their separate property as they deemed fit. V14:3435:13-22.

Burr explained to both Eric and Lynita the legal consequences of the separate property agreement, V14:3438:23-33:5, V14:3446:12-23, including the benefits, detriments and risks. Burr believes that Lynita understood what he communicated to her. V7:1518:13-16. Although Eric and Lynita were not contemplating divorce at the time, Burr explained that a separate property agreement possessed certain benefits and risks, one of which was divorce. V14:3448:10-18. Specifically, Burr explained to Eric

and Lynita that the property they currently owned was community property, and that said community property would be converted to separate property under the separate property agreement. V7:1521:23-1522:8, V7:1530:10-14, V14:3436:18-21, V14:3439, V14:3447:3-6. Burr also explained that either Eric or Lynita could stand by the terms of the Separate Property Agreement in the event of divorce, and that each party bore the risk that they would not have a further interest in the other spouse's separate property. V14:3448:10-18.

Burr further explained that if the Parties wanted to avoid the possibility of possessing unequal assets and liabilities at any point in time, they should periodically balance separate property as they deemed appropriate. V14:3447:10-14, V14:3477:18-21, V14:3484:77:23-78:17. To effectuate such balancing Eric or Lynita would need to make the decision to gift their separate property to the other party and/or their separate property trust. V14:3447:15-23, V14:3478:21-3479:6. Burr made it clear that any intent of Eric or Lynita to make equalizing gifts in the future was in their sole discretion as they had no binding agreement to do so. V14:3448:5-9. Burr also made a form for Eric and Lynita to make gifts to each other. V26:6347-6349, V14:3481:14-15.

Both Eric and Lynita knew that by dividing their community property into separate property it would become separate for all purposes and there could not be a "wink-and-a-nod" side agreement that the separate property agreement would not apply in the case of divorce, V14:3439:12-20, V14:3438:18-24, because if such a side agreement existed it would render the separate property agreement invalid or

Parties had to reach an agreement dividing the community assets for all purposes, *see id.*, without any side agreements (*e.g.*, it would be valid as to creditors but not in the event of divorce). V14:3439:12-20, V14:3450:2-11. Simply put, the Parties could not on one hand agree to treat the property as separate for creditor purposes, while on the other hand have a side agreement that it would not be treated as separate property in any other instance, including divorce. V14:3448:5-9, V14:3450:2-11.

Burr believes that Lynita understood what he told her regarding entering into a separate property agreement (hereinafter referred to as "Separate Property Agreement"), V14:3441:2-3, V14:3447:7-9, which Lynita ultimately executed on 4/28/93. V26:6273-6282. Burr testified that he is not aware of any agreement between the Parties that the Separate Property Agreement would not control in the event of divorce. V14:3465:5-11, V14:3477:2-17, V15:3501:7-17. In fact, other than Lynita's self-serving and fabricated testimony, no evidence and/or testimony was introduced evidencing that the Separate Property Agreement was to be operative with respect to creditors but would not control the disposition of property between them in the case of divorce.

Lynita failed to introduce any evidence that Eric lied, falsified any information that she received, or otherwise induced her to execute the Separate Property Agreement as a result of duress or fraud. To the contrary, Burr testified that he has no reason to believe that Eric unduly influenced Lynita to execute the Separate Property Agreement or any other document. V14:3450:12-15. Burr was provided with a list of all

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

community assets nearly a week before the Separate Property Agreements and Separate Property Trusts were executed. V26:6253-6261. Burr further testified that it was his belief and understanding that the division of community assets at the time the Separate Property Agreement was executed was fair and equitable, and that if it was not he would have done something about it. V14:3452:11-3453:4.

#### 2. RICHARD KOCH, ESQ. ALSO EXPLAINED TO LYNITA THE LEGAL EFFECT OF THE SEPARATE PROPERTY AGREEMENT.

In addition to the legal advice that Burr rendered to Lynita regarding the Separate Property Agreement and the separate property trust, including, THE NELSON FAMILY TRUST dated 7/13/93 ("Lynita's Separate Property Trust"), Lynita was separately represented by Richard Koch, Esq. ("Koch") in her execution of the same. V26:6273-6282, V26:6283-6312. Burr spoke with Koch about the proposed estate plan over the telephone, V14:3444:18-23, and sent correspondence to Koch asking him to review the following with Lynita: (1) Separate Property Agreement with Schedules A and B; and (2) "the values of the respective assets, which were given to Mr. Burr." V26:6262-6273.

Although Koch remembered little of the events in 1993, he testified that his custom and practice would have been to explain to Lynita the differences in the attributes of community property and separate property, the legal effect of dividing community property into two pools of separate property, and the legal consequences of converting community property to separate property. V14:3420:1-15, V14:3422:9-22.

27

Koch would not have executed the following "Attorney Certification" contained within the Separate Property Agreement without fulfilling his ethical obligations and ensuring that the representations were true and correct:

... he has advised LYNITA SUE NELSON with respect to this Agreement and has explained to her the legal effect of it; that LYNITA SUE NELSON has acknowledged her full and complete understanding of the Agreement and its legal consequences, and has freely and voluntarily executed the agreement in the undersigned's presence. (Emphasis Added). V26:6273-6282. See also V14:3417:14-3418:5.

Lynita confirmed that Koch asked her if she had any questions, and whether she understood the agreement, to which she said yes. V14:3389:22-3390:4. Recital 1 to the Separate Property Agreement, which she executed that states:

The Parties declare that each has retained independent counsel and they fully understand the facts and has been fully informed of all legal rights and liabilities; that after such advice and knowledge, each believes this AGREEMENT to be fair, just and reasonable, and that each signs this AGREEMENT freely and voluntarily. V26:6273. See also V26:6277.

Koch has no recollection of Lynita advising him that there was a side agreement that the Separate Property Agreement would not control the character of the property being divided in the event of a divorce between the Parties. V14:3421:20-3422:8. If she had, Koch would have expressed serious concern about the purported side agreement not being contained within the Separate Property Agreement and followed-up with correspondence memorializing the concern, which did not occur in this case. *See id.*, V14:3425:5-24.

In light of the foregoing evidence, the District Court found that the Separate Property Agreement was a "valid agreement." V19:4695:9-11.

# C. THE ASSETS THAT FUNDED THE SEPARATE PROPERTY TRUSTS WERE KEPT SEPARATE AND NOT COMMINGLED.

The District Court found that the assets listed in Schedule A of the Separate Property Agreement, V26:6273-6282, were used to fund Eric's separate property trust THE ERIC L. NELSON SEPARATE PROPERTY TRUST dated 7/13/93 ("Eric's Separate Property Trust"), V26:6313-6341, and the assets listed in Exhibit B, V26:6273-6282, were used to fund Lynita's Separate Property Trust. V26:6283-6311. V19:4695:12-4696:11. Lynita effectuated the transfer of her newly divided separate property by executing the requisite documents to fund Lynita's Separate Property Trust. See e.g., V27:6513, V27:6514-V27:6518. Further, both Eric, V26:6342, and Lynita, V26:5312, executed a document entitled "Assignment of Assets," which transferred and assigned their separate property to their respective separate property trusts.

Shelley Newell, the bookkeeper for the Eric's Separate Property Trust and Lynita's Separate Property Trust from 1993 - 2000, V14:3287:17-23, V14:3288:15-3289:7, confirmed that from 1993 through 2000, the assets owned and liabilities owed by Eric's Separate Property Trust and Lynita's Separate Property Trust were kept separate. V14:3296:12-24. When she created the books for Eric's Separate Property Trust and LSN Separate Property Trust in 1993, Shelley ensured that said books reflected the property as divided in the Separate Property Agreement. V14:3292:2-21,

V14:3294:4-18. All acquisitions in Eric's Separate Property Trust during Shelley's bookkeeping tenure originated from Eric's separate funds, V14:3299:1-5, and she was aware of no community property going into either of trusts during said time frame. V14:3300:8-12.

Shelley testified that although there were a few gifts made from Eric's Separate Property Trust to Lynita's Separate Property Trust (*i.e.* an interest in Tierra Del Sol and Sycamore Plaza), V14:3294:9-3295:4, no loans were made between the trusts. V14:3294:1-4. Shelley also testified that to the extent that common expenses were shared between Eric's Separate Property Trust and Lynita's Separate Property Trust, said expenses were always accounted for as a "due to – due from" if the trusts did not then each pay their respective shares. V14:3297:5-19. When Shelley had questions regarding the separate nature of the Separate Property Trusts she should would seek guidance from Burr. V14:3303:5-9, V26:6344-6345, V26:6345-6346.

## D. CREATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SELF-SETTLED SPENDTHRIFT TRUSTS.

In or around 2000 Eric and Lynita received communications from Burr's office regarding the opportunities associated with the domestic asset-protection trust statute that had been recently enacted in Nevada. V14:3455:2-6.

On or around January 15, 2001, Eric and Lynita met with Burr to discuss converting their Separate Property Trusts to self-settled spendthrift trusts. V26:6392, V26:6393, V14:3456:22-24. Burr met his professional obligation of explaining the

nature of the self-settled spendthrift trusts, including the advantages of said trusts. V14:3458:6-8. The implementation of self-settled spendthrift trusts were intended to "supercharge" the prior estate planning already in place, V14:3458:9-22, by providing both Eric and Lynita greater protection from liabilities because: (1) the assets owned by each of the Separate Property Trusts were still exposed to liabilities that the grantor incurred individually (*e.g.* car accidents); and (2) assets owned by a self-settled spendthrift trust would be protected from creditors after a two year waiting period. V14:3455:11-3456:10, V14:3458:23-3459:9. Said meeting was confirmed in writing by Burr on 1/30/01, V26:6393, and copies of the proposed trusts were sent to Eric and Lynita on or around 2/15/01. V26:6394.

On 5/30/01, nearly 3 months after they were provided drafts of the self-settled spendthrift trusts, Eric executed the ELN Trust, V26:6475-V27:6508, and Lynita executed the LSN Trust. V26:6395-6427. Lynita made the decision to have Burr jointly represent her and Eric for the creation of trusts and waived the potential conflict of interest. V26:6442-6444. Despite the fact that self-settled spendthrift trusts are somewhat complex, Burr assured himself that Lynita had a fundamental understanding of the LSN Trust before allowing her to execute the same, V7:1562:21-1563:4, V14:3459:5-12, and ensured that she executed the same voluntarily. V7:1563:24-1564:2. Burr explained to Eric and Lynita that the ELN Trust and the LSN Trust would be irrevocable, and they would be giving up ownership of their separate property. V14:3461:5-17. No evidence was introduced that there was an agreement that the ELN

Trust and LSN Trust would be respected only as to third-party creditors and not in the event of divorce between Eric and Lynita. To the contrary, all evidence showed that was not the case. V13:3081:18-22, V13:3151:12-16.

Upon execution of the ELN Trust and LSN Trust, Burr believed said trusts were valid and enforceable under Nevada law in accordance with their terms. V14:3473:18-21. The District Court found that said Trusts were established in accordance with NRS 166.020. V19:4696:16-25.

Based upon the evidence presented at trial, V26:6445-6446, V27:6509-6510, V6511-6512, V13:3080:17-3081:9, V14:3460:5-14, the District Court found that the ELN Trust was funded with the assets owned by the ELN Separate Property Trust, V19:4696:18-19, and the LSN Trust was funded with the assets owned by the LSN Separate Property Trust. V19:4697:2-4.

After Lynita executed the LSN Trust, Burr communicated with her directly regarding other issues pertaining to the LSN Trust. V26:6434-6437, V26:6438-6441, V26:6447, V26:6448, V26:6449, V26:6450, V26:6453-6457, V26:6458-6461.

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