#### 1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA MATT KLABACKA, S.C. CASE NO.: 66772 Electronically Filed DISTRIBUTION TRUSTEE OF THE ERIC L. NELSON NEVADA May 04 2016 02:54 p.m. TRUST DATED MAY 30, 2001, ) District Court Case Noa Delk 5 127ndeman Appellant/Cross-Respondent, Clerk of Supreme Court 4 Consolidated with Case No. 68292 5 VS. LYNITA SUE NELSON, INDIVIDUALLY, AND IN HER CAPACITY AS INVESTMENT 7 TRUSTEE OF THE LSN NEVADA TRUST DATED MAY 30, 2001; 8 AND ERIC L. NELSON, INDIVIDUALLY, AND IN HIS CAPACITY AS INVESTMENT TRUSTEE OF THE ERIC L. 10 **NELSON NEVADA TRUST** 11 DATED MAY 30, 2001, Respondents/Cross-Appellant. 12 RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT, LYNITA SUE NELSON'S. 13 ANSWERING

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

is true: there was no evidence at trial that LYNITA financially contributed to the support of ERIC and the parties' children during marriage, or that any of the over \$17.5 million in assets accumulated during marriage resulted from income and earnings generated by LYNITA, or management, investment, or

AAPP V:19:4727:9-13. In reality, the exact opposite of what ERIC represents

ERIC alleges at page 11, without referencing any support in the record, that "[t]he parties' only source of income has been distributions from [ELN TRUST and LSN TRUST] from rents and/or buying and selling properties."

financial decisions made by LYNITA.

18

19

This statement attempts to minimize ERIC's accomplishments during marriage to convince the Court that once the district court divided the parties' assets, the parties had "equal earning potential." As demonstrated by ERIC's own testimony, he was/is an extremely accomplished businessman, and it was his business prowess which allowed the parties to amass such significant wealth. For example, ERIC started a company, Eric Nelson Auctioneering, which sold over \$1 billion in bankrupt properties and repossessions. AAPP V1:71:8-17. ERIC also developed a race track and made \$13 million from the sale of same. AAPP V1:113:2-13. As the district court found, "[ERIC] has demonstrated excellent business acumen as reflected by the large sums of monies generated through his multiple business ventures and investments." AAPP V19:4726:26-28. Meanwhile, [LYNITA] "only completed a year and a half of college and gave up the pursuit of a career outside of the home to become a stay at home mother to the couple's five children." AAPP V19:4726:28-4727:3. LYNITA's last job outside the home was in 1986. AAPP V19:4727:5-7. There is no support for the argument that the parties ever had, or ever could have, equal earning potential.

In summary, ERIC's assignment of error is predicated entirely on the aforementioned misconstrued and misrepresented allegations of fact, and

therefore should be rejected by this Court. *See Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon*, 109 Nev. 990, 997, 860 P.2d 720, 725 (1993) ("This court need not consider the contentions of an appellant where the appellant's opening brief fails to cite to the record on appeal."). There was no evidence at trial that LYNITA was capable of supporting herself in the lifestyle to which she had become accustomed during marriage, or that LYNITA has supported herself during marriage.

Finally, ERIC's arguments are not only factually unsupported but legally unsupported, as it would have been reversible error for the district court to deny LYNITA alimony based on the division of property. *Shydler v. Shydler*, 114 Nev. 192, 197-98, 954 P.2d 37, 40 (1998) (holding that because property and alimony differ in purpose and effect, property equalization does not serve as a substitute for spousal support). This Court should affirm the district court's award of \$800,000 in alimony to LYNITA.

## 2. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Awarding Alimony Lump Sum

The district court "may award such alimony to the wife or to the husband, in a specified principal sum or as specified periodic payments, as appears just and equitable." NRS 125.150(1)(a). The district court relied upon

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

this Court's holding in Sargeant v. Sargeant, 88 Nev. 223, 495 P.2d 618 (1972), in deciding to award alimony as a principal lump sum. In Sargeant, the trial court found that a lump sum alimony award was appropriate based on the poor health of the obligor spouse, and the obligor spouse's litigation conduct which indicated "some possibility that he might attempt to liquidate, interfere, hypothecate or give away his assets to avoid payment of any alimony or support obligations." Id., 88 Nev. at 228, 495 P.2d at 621. This Court affirmed the trial court's award of lump sum alimony:

The dour attitude of the aged husband to his wife 20 years his junior, despite her many years of care and affection before they were married and after, together with the potential problems (she lives in Florida) which would attend the possible litigious harassment via the Nevada courts justify the trial court's exercise of discretion that we will not disturb. The finding of fault by the trial court predominated against the husband, the voluminous testimony and evidence weighed in her favor. His bitterness foretells future harassment.

Id., 88 Nev. at 229, 495 P.2d at 622.

The Court's decision in Sargeant is on all fours with the instant case, as evidenced by the following findings of the district court:

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC's] open and deliberate violation of the Joint Preliminary Injunction evidences his attitude of disregard for court order. The Court also takes notice of Bankruptcy Judge Olack's finding that [ERIC] attempted to deplete assets of Dynasty Development Group on the eve of the bankruptcy filing, raising the concern that [ERIC] may deplete assets of the ELN Trust precluding [LYNITA] from receiving a periodic alimony award.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC] has been less than forthcoming as to the nature and extent of the assets of the ELN Trust which raises another possible deterrent from [LYNITA] receiving periodic alimony payments."

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that, as addressed hereinbefore, the ELN Trust moved this Court to dissolve the injunction regarding the \$1,568,000 because it "has an opportunity to purchase Wyoming Racing LLC, a horse racing track and RV park, for \$440,000.00; however, the ELN [TRUST] will be unable to do so unless the Injunction is dissolved."

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that despite the representation to the Court that the Injunction needed to be dissolved so that the ELN Trust would be able to purchase Wyoming Downs, less than a month after the hearing, the ELN Trust, with [ERIC] serving as the investment trustee, completed the purchase of Wyoming Downs. This leads this Court to believe that [ERIC] was less than truthful about the extent and nature of the funds available in the ELN Trust and such conduct on the part of [ERIC] raises serious concerns about the actions that [ERIC] will take to preclude [LYNITA] from receiving periodic spousal support payments.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC] alleged numerous debts and liabilities worth millions of dollars, but forensic accountant, Mr. Bertsch, found that these alleged debts and liabilities were based solely on threats and speculations.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC's] practice of regularly transferring property and assets to family members, as highlighted in the transactions involving the High Country Inn and Russell Road properties, contributes to this Court's concern

that [ERIC] may deplete the assets of the ELN Trust via such family transfers, and, thereby, effectively preclude [LYNITA] from receiving a periodic spousal support award.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC's] overall attitude throughout the course of these proceedings illustrates the possibility that he might attempt to liquidate, interfere, hypothecate, or give away assets out of the ELN Trust to avoid payment of his support obligations to [LYNITA], thereby justifying a lump sum spousal support award to [LYNITA] based on the factors addressed hereinabove and the rationale enunciated in *Sargeant*.

AAPP V19:4730:2-4731:16.

In addition to the foregoing, ERIC's abrupt change in positions concerning the parties' rights to property after two (2) years of litigation, further supported the need for lump sum alimony:

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC], as the Investment Trustee for the ELN Trust, was the person authorized to institute legal action on behalf of the Trust.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC] did not request that the ELN Trust move to be added as a necessary party to these proceedings until almost two years after initiating this action and following the initial six days of trial. It is apparent to this Court that [ERIC] was not satisfied with the tenor of the court's preliminary "findings" in that it was not inclined to grant his requested relief, and, consequently, decided to pursue a "second bite at the apple" by requesting that the ELN Trust pursue being added as a necessary party.

19 ...

l

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that adding the ELN Trust as a necessary party at this rather late stage of the proceedings, resulted in extended and protracted litigation including reopening of Discovery, the recalling of witnesses who had testified at the initial six days of trial, and serveral additional days of trial.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that [ERIC's] position that he had a conflict of interest which prevented him from exercising his authority to institute legal action on behalf of the ELN Trust was not credible as he had appeared before this Court on numerous occasions regarding community waste issues and the transfer of assets from the ELN Trust and the LSN Trust and had never raised an issue as to a conflict of interest.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that while both parties were aware of the existence of the ELN and LSN Trusts from the onset of this litigation, and, as such, [LYNITA] could have moved to add the ELN Trust as a necessary party, [ERIC] had consistently maintained throughout his initial testimony that the assets held in the ELN Trust and the LSN Trusts were property of the community.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that, while this Court fully respects and supports a party's right to fully and thoroughly litigate its position, [ERIC's] change in position as to the character of the property of the ELN Trust and LSN Trust in an attempt to get a "second bite of the apple", resulted in unreasonably and unnecessarily extending and protracting this litigation and additionally burdening this Court's limited judicial resources, thereby justifying an award of reasonable attorney fees and costs in this matter.

#### AAPP V19:4734:2 - 4735:8.

The district court did not abuse its discretion by awarding alimony in a lump sum, and this Court should affirm the district court's award.

## 3. The District Court Did Not Err In Ordering Alimony To Be Satisfied From Assets Titled In ELN TRUST

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

1

ERIC argues that Nevada's self-settled spendthrift trust laws do not allow for the district court to order a distribution of assets held in ELN TRUST to LYNITA to satisfy ERIC's obligations for alimony, and that the district court erred in entering such an order. "[A] spendthrift trust is defined to be a trust in which by the terms thereof a valid restraint on the voluntary and involuntary transfer of the interest of the beneficiary is imposed." NRS 166.020. The testimony of ERIC and Mr. Burr conclusively established that the parties, in creating the ELN TRUST and LSN TRUST, had no intention to transfer their community property to trust and to divest themselves of such property, other than in name only, nor did the parties intend to restrain their ability to transfer the interests in such properties to themselves. AAPP V19:4699:12-4700:16. In fact, the parties were advised by Mr. Burr that such restraints were illusory because of the flexibility of such trusts, and that transfer of property to the trusts would not affect their rights with regard to same in the event of divorce. AAPP V7:1546:22; 1547:4; 1555:14-19. Under these facts and circumstances, no valid trusts were created.

19

18

Additionally, ERIC ignores the district court's detailed findings concerning ERIC's failure to follow the formalities of ELN TRUST and LSN TRUST, and ERIC's complete and unfettered access to distributions from such trusts in contravention of the express terms of ELN TRUST and Nevada law for the maintenance of a valid, self-settled spendthrift trust. *See* NRS 166.040. The district court found that it would have been wholly justified in invalidating the trusts, but decided not to do so because it believed substantial justice could be afforded to the parties without invalidating such trusts. Any argument that ERIC should be granted protections afforded by law to valid, self-settled spendthrift trusts should be rejected by the Court.

Even if the ELN TRUST and LSN TRUST were valid, no property was ever validly held in trust, and all property was held by ERIC and LYNITA as community property. NRS 163.002 provides:

Creation Methods. Except as otherwise provided by specific statute, a trust may be created by any of the following methods:

- 1. A declaration by the owner of property that he or she holds the property as trustee.
- 2. A transfer of property by the owner during his or her lifetime to another person as trustee.
- 3. A testamentary transfer of property by the owner to another person as trustee.

5. An enforceable promise to create a trust.

3 "4 cr 4 cr 5 N 6 co 6 7 ne 6 9 pr 10 tit 11 in 12 pr

15

13

14

16

17

18

19

"A trust is created only if: 1. The settlor properly manifests an intention to create a trust; and 2. There is trust property, except as otherwise provided in NRS 163.230." NRS 163.003 (emphasis added). ERIC's 2010 case-in-chief conclusively established that a trust was never created and that property was never actually transferred to trusts. All purported transfers were illusory because ERIC and LYNITA intended to, and did, continue to hold all their property as their own community property, despite any purported change in title to the contrary. As the district court found, "while Mr. Nelson acted as the investment trustee for both the ELN and LSN Trust respectively, the properties never effectively left the community." AAPP V19:4706:23-27 (emphasis added). Without an actual intention to transfer property into trust for the benefit of others, no trusts were created and all property purportedly held in trust remained the community property of the parties, which the district court could properly use to satisfy ERIC's lump sum alimony obligation.

Even if ELN TRUST was a valid trust, and the parties' community property was validly held in trust, the district court correctly ruled that it could invade the trust principal to satisfy ERIC's support obligation. Specifically,

the district court cited South Dakota and Wyoming statutes, and the decision

in Gilbert v. Gilbert, 447 So.2d 299 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), as persuasive

authority supporting its ruling. AAPP V19:4732:5 - 4733:19.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that, while not binding on this Court, [the Wyoming and South Dakota] statutes clearly demonstrate that spouses entitled to alimony or maintenance are to be treated differently than a creditor by providing that the interest of a spendthrift trust beneficiary can be reached to satisfy support of a child or a former spouse.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that in *Gilbert v. Gilbert*, 447 So.2d 299 [(Fla. 2d DCA 1983)], the Florida Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's order that allowed the wife to garnish husband's beneficiary interest in a spendthrift trust to satisfy the divorce judgment regarding alimony payments.

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that the *Gilbert* court found that while "the cardinal rule of construction in trusts is to determine the intention of the settler and give effect to his wishes . . . there is a strong public policy argument which favors subjecting the interest of the beneficiary of a trust to a claim for alimony." *Id.* at 301. The court went on to state that the dependents of the beneficiary should not be deemed to be creditors as such a view would "permit the beneficiary to have the enjoyment of the income from the trust while he refuses to support his dependents whom it is his duty to support." *Id.* The *Gilbert* court went on to state that a party's responsibility to pay alimony "is a duty, not a debt." *Id.* 

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that there is a strong public policy argument in favor of subjecting the interest of the beneficiary of a trust to a claim for spousal support and child support, and, as such, [ERIC's] beneficiary interest in the ELN

Trust should be subjected to [LYNITA's] award of spousal support and child support.

#### AAPP V19:4732:19 - 4733:19.

The district court was completely justified under the facts in its refusal to provide any protections to ERIC and ELN TRUST. To the extent this Court believes that the district court's specific reasoning for distributing trust assets, and reference to foreign statutes, was in error, such errors would be clearly harmless and should not provide a basis for relief to ERIC and ELN TRUST. NRCP 61 provides:

NRCP 61 provides:

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